COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2014 OCT 21 PM 3: 50 STATE OF WASHINGTON

Suppose Court No.:

Court of Appeals State of Washington Division II - No.: 43121-1-II

Pierce County Superior Court No: 09-2-16169-6

JEANETTE MEARS, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE FOR THE ESTATE OF MERCEDES MEARS, AND AS LIMITED GUARDIAN FOR JADA MEARS, AND MICHAEL MEARS,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

vs.

BETHEL SCHOOL DISTRICT, NO. 403, A MUNICIPAL CORPORATION; RHONDA K. GIBSON, AND HEIDI A. CHRISTENSEN,

Respondents/Defendants.

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

BEN F. BARCUS, WSBA# 15576
PAUL A. LINDENMUTH, WSBA #15817
LAW OFFICES OF BEN F. BARCUS
& ASSOCIATES, P.L.L.C.
Attorney for Appellants/Plaintiffs

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Petitioners, Jeanette Mears, individually and as personal representative for the Estate of Mercedes Mears, and as limited guardian for Jada Mears, and Michael Mears, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision which affirmed an adverse verdict and judgment in favor of the Bethel School District Number 403, a municipal corporation; and individual defendants Rhonda K. Gibson and Heidi A. Christensen, (defendants below, Respondents herein), despite acknowledging, *inter alia*, during the course of trial defense counsel engaged in flagrant misconduct by asking highly inflammatory questions clearly calculated to inflame the passions and prejudices of the jury.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision was filed on August 12, 2014. The published and unpublished portions of that decision are attached hereto as Appendix A. The court's order denying Petitioner's Motion to Publish was entered on September 22, 2014 as attached hereto as Appendix B.

III. ISSUED PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Jeanette and Michael Mears are the parents of Mercedes, (deceased), and Jada, who witnessed her sister's death. Despite multiple

orders on motions in limine prohibiting such questioning, during the course of trial, counsel for the defendants asked these questions based on statements allegedly within Jeanette Mears and Jada Mears counseling record:

Did [Jeanette] ... tell you that her treatment, one of her treatment goals for dealing with the attachment with Jada was to be able to tolerate the presence of Jada without feeling her flesh was crawling or without coming loose in her stomach content [?]

...

Did she tell you her goal was in treatment, was so that she could end up being in the same room with her daughter Jada and not feel like your skin was crawling [?]

...

[Did] you read the reports that Jada had in her medical record where she claimed that her mother had told her that she was stupid, she was ugly, that why couldn't she be more like Mercedes [?]

...

Now, you know, don't you, that Jada reported to her counselors and before this event an instance of what was described by the counselors as severe emotional abuse that she suffered from her mom [?]

(Slip Op., page 22).

The Appellate Court acknowledged these questions violated a number of the trial court's prior orders on motions in limine, and followed a misleading offer of proof made by Respondent's counsel. (*Id.*, page 24).

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals found that despite the fact these highly inflammatory questions, accusing a plaintiff mother of child abuse, to be "flagrant misconduct," a new trial was not warranted because, ultimately, the witness to whom such questions were asked did not actually answer the questions.

- 1. Does the decision of the Court of Appeals relating to the flagrant misconduct of Respondent's counsel, conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), because it assumes that such grievous misconduct could have no impact on the jury, given that the trial court gave a general instruction regarding the comments of the attorneys, and the highly inflammatory questions were never actually answered?
- 2. Was the Court of Appeals interpretation of the verdict form in this case inconsistent with the Supreme Court's opinion in *Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 144 Wn.2d. 907, 915, 302 P.3d 250 (2001)?
- 3. Should the Supreme Court review the Court of Appeals decision with regard to the impact of Respondent's counsel's "flagrant misconduct" in this case, because it involves a matter of substantial public interest within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(4), given the public has an interest in fair trials, a trial where the trial court's ruling on motions in

limine are honored and where flagrant misconduct of counsel is not tolerated?

4. Upon acceptance of review of the above issues, will the Supreme Court consider the other instances of evidentiary error and/or attorney misconduct discussed within the Court of Appeals opinion?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As discussed at Pages 1 through 5 of the slip opinion in this case, this case involves the tragic and untimely death of Mercedes Mears, who died on the floor oF the nurse's office at Clover Creek Elementary School, which is part of the Bethel School District. As discussed at Page 2 of the slip opinion, it was undisputed at time of trial that had the school personnel, (who were attending to Mercedes during the health emergency which took her life), engaged in the *de minimus* acts of providing her with her EpiPen or CPR, it would have saved her life. It was also uncontradicted at time of trial that Mercedes had her own personal EpiPen at Clover Creek Elementary School on the date of her death. In fact her EpiPen was stored in a cabinet literally within feet of where she perished. She had provided the school a doctor's order directing and/or permitting its use, should she suffer an "allergic emergency." During the course of trial proceedings, it was disputed as to whether or not Mercedes died as a result of an "allergic

emergency" and/or a long-standing asthma condition she suffered from. It was uncontradicted that in either event had either CPR and/or an EpiPen been utilized, her life would have been saved.

. . . .

Jury selection began in this case on October 10, 2011 and the case concluded on November 28, 2011 when the jury returned a verdict finding negligence, but no proximate cause. The jury verdict form is attached as Appendix C to this Petition.

Pretrial proceedings in this case spanned many hours and several days. Such proceedings included crossing motions for summary judgment, as well as a vast array of motions in limine brought by both sides. A critical focus of the motions in limine brought by the Plaintiffs was solidifying the trial court's previous rulings on summary judgment that the Plaintiff parents did nothing to cause or contribute to Mercedes injuries, nor did Jada. Additionally, substantial effort was made to exclude on relevancy grounds and pursuant to ER 403 what otherwise under ER 403 could be highly prejudicial evidence within Jeanette's personal counseling records. While there was a question regarding a preexisting "bonding" issue between Jada and her mother, Jeanette, the trial court, within its motion in limine ruling, specifically excluded any argument, testimony or comments relating to allegations of abuse by Jeanette toward her daughter

Jada. Significantly, with respect to any matters relating to "past counseling," defense counsel, prior to probing into such matters, was ordered to make an offer of proof outside of the presence of the jury.

.

Yet, despite Plaintiff's counsel's efforts, and great care in crafting such motion in limine and acquiring such advance rulings, Respondent's counsel, nevertheless asked the highly inflammatory and ill-intentioned above-referenced questions.

Unfortunately, despite hours and hours of effort to ensure that the Plaintiffs' received a fair trial, defense counsel from the "opening bell," (opening statement), engaged in calculated efforts to violate the Court's orders in limine, or to skirt them at every possible step. Within Bethel's opening statement, counsel immediately began discussing highly irrelevant medical history in an obvious calculated effort to bias the jury against the Plaintiff parents for not forcing Mercedes, (several years prior), to be more compliant with her asthma medications. Witnesses aligned with the school district were obviously coached and were unresponsive to Plaintiff's counsel's questions. Despite a motion in limine specifically excluding any contention that Mercedes should not have gone to school the day of her death, the defense elicited testimony from the School's principal suggesting to the contrary. Although the above-quoted inflammatory question

certainly was the "crescendo" of misconduct within the trial, the Court of Appeals failed to recognize that it, in combination with a host of other misconduct, was more than adequate to make a determination that the Plaintiffs did not receive a fair trial. It was an abuse of discretion for the trial court not to have ordered one under the terms of CR 59.¹

As discussed below, although a critical portion of the Court of Appeals' opinion is "unpublished," it is nothing more than an invitation to defense counsel, in high stakes personal injury cases, to abuse the court system in order to further a "win at all costs" mentality. The Court of Appeal's willingness to condone such actions is nothing but an invitation for future misconduct. It is also predicated on a legal analysis which runs afoul a number of well-established principles within the case law, not only generated by this court, but also other divisions of the courts of appeals.

¹ Even prior to the case being called for trial, the defendants engaged in such substantial discovery abuse that their forensic psychologist expert was stricken. Plaintiff's case preparation was substantially disrupted when, on the eve of trial, the defense produced in response to discovery requests, over 500 pages of documentation, including a number of "smoking gun" documents. See, *Berry v. Coleman Systems Company* 23 Wn.App. 622, 596 P.2d 1165 (1979) (bad faith actions perpetrated by defense in discovery injured the Plaintiffs to such a degree that the Plaintiff was entitled to a new trial "on the grounds that substantial justice has not been done."). Curiously, such discovery abuse was not even referenced within the Court of Appeals partially published opinion. The cumulative effect of the above-referenced misconduct was a jury verdict that is difficult to reconcile with the proof presented at the time of trial. The jury found that the Bethel School District and its employees were negligent, but that such negligence was not the proximate cause of the Plaintiff's injuries, including the unfortunate death of Mercedes Mears, which indisputably was easily preventable.

V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeal's Decision Regarding Misconduct of Counsel and Evidentiary Error is and Was Inconsistent With Well-Established Legal Principles.

It is respectfully suggested that one can look long and hard within the case law within the State of Washington and be hard pressed to find an instance in a civil case where more prejudicial information was placed in front of a jury - whether in the form of a question, answer or a comment during closing. As pointed out by the Court of Appeals, given the suggestion that a parent in a wrongful death of a child case has engaged in acts of "child abuse," is highly inflammatory and prejudicial. At page 26 of the slip opinion, the Court of Appeals acknowledged:

Even though the statements and allegation of the counseling records have some relevance in the issue of Jada's damages, however, public attitudes concerning child abuse certainly pose as great a danger of unfair prejudice as a person's undocumented immigration status. Under Salas, the initiative of such statements poses such a great risk of prejudice that the misconduct of the district counsel in this regard might well merit reversal.... (Emphasis added).

Nevertheless, the Court went on to hold that a generalized instruction telling the jury to disregard the remarks and statements of counsel" was powerful enough to overcome the toxic and highly

prejudicial impact such comments presumptively had during the course of trial.

The approach taken by the Court of Appeals stands in marked contrast to the opinions of this Court and, frankly, to some degree defy the common sense reality how such toxic comments can and did fatally affect this trial. In reviewing the cases of the Supreme Court, it is hard to imagine how this case is consistent with them, and how the Court of Appeals could have concluded that such flagrant, ill-intentioned and highly prejudicial misconduct would not be the basis for the grant of a new trial, regardless of the fact that the witness ultimately was blocked from answering the inappropriate questions by vociferous and timely objection.

The Court can take note that in *Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 672, 230 P.3d 583 (2010), the Supreme Court granted a new trial due to prejudicial admission of evidence regarding the Plaintiff's immigration status. It did so despite the fact that the admission of such evidence was reviewed under the deferential "abuse of discretion" standard. In *Salas*, the Court reasoned that, given the prejudicial nature of such evidence, a new trial was warranted because there was "no way to know what value the jury placed upon the improperly admitted evidence, a new trial is necessary." Citing to *Thomas v. French*, 99 Wn.2d 995, 105, 659

P.2d 1097 (1983) (new trial granted when negative prejudicial hearsay letter was admitted into evidence).

Further, the Court of Appeal's opinion suggests that the words of counsel alone, no matter how inflammatory, ill-intentioned and flagrant will not justify granting a new trial when the statement was made in the form of a question to a witness, which remained unanswered. In contrast, when prejudicial statements are made by counsel during the course of closing argument it is a basis for a new trial. See, Adkins v. Aluminum Company of America 110 Wn.2d 128, 140, 750 P.2d 1257 (1998). In Adkins, the Supreme Court held that an improper "Golden Rule" argument warranted reversal and remand for a new trial, despite the fact, (as in this case), the jurors were provided the general instruction that comments of counsel are not evidence. In Adkins, the prejudice was shown by the fact that in an earlier trial there had been a finding of liability in favor of the Plaintiff, and a defense verdict in the second trial. Under such circumstances, the Court concluded that the improper argument "presumptively affected the outcome of the trial" and required reversal.

In this case, like *Adkins*, there were certain aspects of what transpired which are indicative that defense counsel's misconduct affected the verdict. The jurors in this case found negligence with respect to all

defendants, with no proximate cause, even though it was an undisputed fact that had the school personnel, (who were supposed to be trained and knowledgeable regarding the use of an EpiPen and Mercedes' medical needs), administered the EpiPen or performed CPR, Mercedes would have survived.²

Further, the Court of Appeal's ruling "stands on its head" and undermines the entire purpose of acquiring pretrial rulings on motions in limine, (particularly as it relates to highly prejudicial information). It is well recognized that motions in limine are proper and should be granted, particularly as it relates to highly prejudicial information, because a jury can be inflamed and/or prejudiced if there is a "mere asking of the question." *Osborn v. Lake Washington School District* 1 Wn.App. 534, 539, 462 P.2d 966 (1969). As discussed in *Osborn*, the purpose of the motion in limine is to "...prevent the very damage caused by defense counsel. At that time, both court and counsel recognized prejudice could be caused by the mere asking the question and even objection thereto."

² It is noted that in *Adkins* the Golden Rule argument was made in that case was subject to objection, but the trial court failed to provide a curative instruction. In this case, for inexplicable reasons, the trial court never actually ruled on the objections and, of course, no curative instruction could be provided absent such a ruling.

Here, the mere asking of such highly inflammatory questions, in violation of a number of motions in limine, should be considered as so severe that no curative instruction nor objection on the part of Plaintiff's counsel could have "unrung the bell." In fact, by asking such questions the defense forced Plaintiff's counsel to vociferously object in front of the jury and resulted in the jury's speedy removal from the courtroom so that a record could be made and the objection could be heard. By forcing Plaintiff's counsel to object only emphasizes that such information, in the eyes of Plaintiff's counsel, was likely to hurt the Plaintiff's case. As one of this Court's brethren recognized, at the time World War II was coming to a close, "One cannot unring a bell. I marvel at the audacity of appellate courts which declare their ability to unravel the admissible and inadmissible evidence and say that the inadmissible evidence did not influence the jury." See, State v. Redwine 23 Wn.2d 467, 476, 116 P.2d 205 (1945) (J. Millard dissenting).

This is not a case where Plaintiffs' counsel in any way "gambled on the verdict," given that contemporaneous with this deplorable defense conduct, Plaintiff's counsel moved for a mistrial.

Further, it is hard to imagine that accusing a mother of "child abuse" is not such "flagrant" misconduct that, even had the Plaintiff's counsel

stood silent, it nevertheless would be grounds for an award of a new trial, even though the inflammatory question ultimately remained unanswered. In, *Carabba v. Anacortes School District*, 72 Wn.2d 939, 954, 435 P.2d 936 (1968), the Court provided:

The necessary inquiry, therefore, is whether the incident of misconduct referred to were so flagrant that no instruction of the court, or admonition to disregard, could suffice to remove the harm caused thereby. If such is the case, appellant's failure to bolster his objection by moving for a mistrial did not waive, and the instruction and admonition by the trial court did not cure, the harm produced. The only effective remedy is a new trial, free from prejudicial misconduct of this magnitude.

The Court of Appeals' holding in this case violates this wisdom.

It was respectfully suggested that, in order to maintain consistency in the law and, if anything, for deterrent purposes, the Court of Appeals' decision should be subject to review, not only due to the fact it is inconsistent with precedent, but also its tolerance of the type of misconduct involved in this case, raises the clear specter of a matter of substantial public import.

In *Teter v. Deck* 174 Wn.2d 207, 274 P.3d 336 (2012), this Court, in support of the actions of now Justice Gonzalez, sent a clear message that the cumulative misconduct of experienced trial counsel, calculated to expose

juries to inadmissible evidence would not be tolerated, and a new trial would be a remedy, even if such misconduct was regularly subject to objection and curative instruction. Here, there was no curative instruction provided, nor could there have been one which would have cured the inflammatory actions taken by the defense in this case. Such actions should be viewed as being indicative of a distain for the trial court's rulings in limine, and a willingness to violate Court orders in order to win a defense verdict. What transpired in this case was deplorable, and the Supreme Court should correct the Court of Appeal's willingness to accept what transpired without affording these victimized Plaintiffs the remedy of a new trial.

B. The Court of Appeals' Determination Regarding the Nature of General and Special Verdicts was Erroneous and Inconsistent With this Court's Prior Precedent.

The verdict form in this case essentially contained four questions;

1) negligence (as to each individual defendant); 2) proximate cause, (as to each individual defendant); 3) damages and 4) allocation amongst the named defendants. The specific answers to the question regarding the "negligence" should have been treated by the trial court, and the Court of Appeals, as being a "general verdict," because it actually resolved the ultimate question of whether or not the defendant breached a standard of

care. See, *Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.* 144 Wn.2d 907, 918, 32 P.3d 250 (2001). (Answers to interrogatories regarding each claim "yes/no" constitute a general verdict where "the jury pronounces generally upon all or any of the issues in favor of either the Plaintiff or defendant."). See, CR 49(-). As noted in *Hawley v. Mellem* 66 Wn.2d 765, 105 P.2d 243 (1965), "When the verdict of a jury is consistent with the pleadings, the evidence, the instructions of the court, all issues are resolved and inhere in the verdict." A "general verdict" is the integral final product of the jury's findings, and it cannot readily be separated into its component elements. See, *Rowe v. Safeway Stores* 14 Wn.2d 363, 373, 128 P.2d 293 (1942). As stated in *Rowe*, citing to, 29 Yale Law Review 253, 258:

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