RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 29, 2014, 1:06 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 90971-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEANETTE MEARS, individually and as personal representative for the Estate of Mercedes Mears and as Limited Guardian for JADA MEARS; and MICHAEL MEARS,

Petitioners,

v.

BETHEL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 403, a municipal corporation; RHONDA K. GIBSON; and HEIDI A. CHRISTENSEN,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC Attorneys for Respondents

Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 628-6600

ORIGINAL

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

The four questions⁵ were asked during the cross of Kimberly Barrett, a family therapist the Mears called as a forensic expert. 10/25 RP (Barrett) 2-3, 54-56. Barrett had testified that all of Jada's symptoms, including anger and emotional distress, were attributable to what Jada witnessed in the health room the morning Mercedes died. *Id.* at 1-2, 14, 36-37, 39. When the District sought to inquire about Jada's pre-existing

⁵ The four questions are set forth at *Slip Op. at 22. See also* 10/25 RP (Barrett) 54-56.

anger problems, the Mears objected, claiming that such inquiry violated their motion in limine concerning evidence of failure to bond between Jeannette and Jada, which the trial court pointed out it had denied.⁶ *Id.* at 39-42. After colloquy and an offer of proof, the court reiterated that the defense could inquire concerning the failure to bond issue. *Id.* at 42-47.

When cross of Ms. Barrett resumed, the District elicited that she had testified in deposition that the lack of attachment between a parent and child is predictive of long-term consequences in the mental health of a child and that she was aware of attachment issues between Jeannette and Jada. *Id.* at 49-52. After Barrett denied awareness of the severity of the attachment issues, *id.* at 51-54, the District asked the four questions at issue that were based on statements contained in Jeannette's counseling records or Jada's counseling and school records, *id.* at 54-56.⁷

Two of the questions asked whether Barrett had been told that one of Jeannette's treatment goals was "to be able to tolerate the presence of Jada without feeling like her flesh was crawling or without coming loose in [her] stomach contents" or was "so that she could end up being in the same room with her daughter Jada and not feeling like her skin was

 $^{^{6}}$ The order on motion in limine (4.15.9) contained a reference to "outside the presence of the jury only," which the trial court expressed no concern about in dealing with the Mears' objection. CP 2784.

⁷ The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the statements and allegations contained in the counseling records had some relevance to Jada's damages. *Slip Op. at 26.*

crawling." *Id.* at 54-55. The third question asked whether Barrett had read in Jada's medical records Jada's claim that "her mom had told her that she was stupid, she was ugly, that why couldn't she be more like Mercedes." *Id.* at 55. The fourth, and the only question referencing "abuse," asked Barrett whether she knew that Jada had reported "an instance of what was described by the counselors as severe emotional abuse that she suffered from her mom."⁸ *Id.* at 56.

The Mears immediately objected to the first three questions; they objected only after the one "emotional abuse" question. *Id.* More colloquy ensued; the Mears asked for a mistrial, which the trial court denied; and the District made another offer of proof and the Court ruled that the District's remaining questions were permissible. *Id.* at 56-62.

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, *Slip Op. at 26-27*, (1) Barrett "never admitted any knowledge of the statements that the District's counsel paraphrased from the counseling and school records, and did not answer the question concerning Jada's emotional abuse," *see* 10/25 RP (Barrett) at 54-56, and (2) "the trial court never actually admitted the prejudicial statements into evidence" and "properly instructed the jury that the lawyers' remarks, statements, or arguments are not evidence," and admonished the jury to "disregard any remark, statement, or argument that

⁸ The trial court had granted plaintiff's motion in limine (4.15.21) to preclude allegations of abuse related to Jeannette and Jada. CP 2781.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Contrary to the Mears' assertions, the Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). Nor does it involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. <u>The Court of Appeals Decision as to Alleged Inconsistency in the</u> Jury's Verdict Finding of No Proximate Cause Is Not in Conflict with Any Washington Appellate Decision, Nor Does It Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Mears claim, *Pet. at 15-16*, that the Court of Appeals' characterization of the jury's verdict as a "special verdict" and its failure to provide the Mears "the benefit of a presumption that all potential theories of negligence were found in their favor" is somehow inconsistent with CR 49(-); *Guijosa v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 144 Wn.2d 907, 918, 32 P.3d 250 (2001); *Hawley v. Mellem*, 66 Wn.2d 765, 405 P.2d 243 (1965), and *Rowe v. Safeway Stores*, 14 Wn.2d 363, 373, 128 P.2d 293 (1942). That is simply not true. Neither CR 49(-), nor any of those cases stands for the proposition that the verdict form in this case – which asked first whether any defendant was negligent, and, if so, asked second whether such negligence was a proximate cause of injury to any plaintiff – constitutes a general verdict, much less a general verdict that requires a presumption that a jury's "yes" answer to the negligence question means the jury found defendants negligent in every respect argued by plaintiffs.

CR 49(-) merely describes a "general verdict" as one "by which the jury pronounces generally upon all or any of the issues in favor of either the plaintiff or defendant." CR 49(a) describes a "special verdict" as one a jury returns "in the form of a special written finding upon each issue of fact." Here, the jury returned a verdict with special written findings on two factual issues: (1) that each defendant was negligent, but (2) that such negligence was not a proximate cause of injury to plaintiffs. It thus was a special verdict.

The verdict form in this case was not like the general verdict at issue in *Guijosa*. As this Court explained in *Guijosa*, 144 Wn.2d at 918, the verdict in that case asked the jury:

whether the defendants are liable under each claim, i.e., whether the defendants falsely imprisoned the plaintiffs, whether the defendants committed battery or malicious prosecution, whether the defendants discriminated against the plaintiffs, and whether the defendants violated the CPA.

Because the jury's answers actually resolved the ultimate questions on each of plaintiff's claims, the jury's answers constituted general verdicts under CR 49. *Id.* The jury's answer in this case to the question whether any of the defendants were negligent did not resolve the ultimate issue of whether defendants were or were not liable to plaintiffs for any such negligence; it was merely a factual finding of negligence, which standing alone and without a factual finding of proximate cause did not resolve the issue of liability in either side's favor. The jury's answer to the questions whether any of the defendants were negligent and, if so, whether such negligence was a proximate cause was a special verdict.⁹

Ultimately, whether characterized as a special or a general verdict, the fact remains that the jury's combined "yes" answers to the negligence questions and "no" answers to the proximate cause questions means that the jury found in favor of defendants on plaintiffs' liability claims. As long as the jury's answers to those questions can be reconciled and there is substantial evidence to support the jury's answers, neither a new trial nor a judgment as a matter of law in plaintiffs' favor can be granted. *E.g.*, *Herring v. DSHS*, 81 Wn. App. 1, 15-16, 914 P.2d 67 (1996).

Without citing any supporting authority, and ignoring the many things – the "50 things" – the Mears argued defendants did wrong, the Mears assert, *Pet. at 17*, that "it must be presumed that the jury found in [their] favor on the theory that the school district was negligent in failing to provide Mercedes with CPR and/or her EpiPen." Had the Mears

⁹ Apparently trying to craft an argument for seeking review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), the Mears assert, *Pet. at 18*, that review should be granted "because the public would have a substantial interest in preserving the sanctity of general verdicts." But, as noted above, this is not a general verdict, and it is the Mears who seek to undermine the sanctity of the jury's special verdict finding of no proximate cause.

limited their negligence theories to failure to provide Mercedes with CPR or her EpiPen, that assertion might have some plausibility. But, the Mears did not so limit their negligence theories. Under the evidence adduced at trial (which included evidence that the District's employees reasonably believed Mercedes was having an asthma attack and the doctor's orders on file did not say use an EpiPen for an asthma attack, as well as evidence that CPR was not called for prior to the paramedics' arrival as Mercedes had a pulse and was breathing), the jury did not have to find that District employees' failure to administer an EpiPen or CPR was negligent.

As the Court of Appeals correctly observed, *Brashear v. Puget* Sound Power & Light Co., 100 Wn.2d 204, 209, 667 P.2d 78 (1983), and Estate of Stalkup v. Vancouver Clinic, Inc., PS, 145 Wn. App. 572, 187 P.3d 291 (2008)

leave no room for the Mearses' contention that the jury's finding as to negligence requires us to assume that the jurors agreed that every act or omission alleged by the Mears had breached the due care standard. The trial court therefore did not err in denying the Mearses' motion for judgment as a matter of law on the issue of proximate cause. Further, as long as the Mearses alleged that each defendant committed some act or omission that the jury could properly have found to be negligent, but not a proximate cause of Mercedes's death, no inconsistency would lie in the verdict, and it would have been within the trial court's discretion to deny the alternative motion for a new trial as to all issues.

Mears, 182 Wn. App. at 933. As the court explained in Stalkup, 145 Wn.

A jury verdict finding that a defendant is negligent but that the negligence was not a proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries is not inconsistent if there is evidence in the record to support a finding of negligence but also evidence to support a finding that the resulting injury would have occurred regardless of the defendant's actions.

Here, the Mears alleged a multitude of acts or omissions by defendants that the jury reasonably could have found constituted negligence, but did not proximately cause Mercedes' death. Indeed, the ones the Court of Appeals identified, *Mears*, 182 Wn. App. at 933-34, more than sufficed to deny the Mears' post-trial motions based on alleged inconsistency in the jury's "negligence, but no proximate cause" findings or alleged insufficiency of the evidence to support them.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Concerning Alleged Attorney Misconduct Also Does Not Conflict with Any Washington Appellate Decision, Nor Does It Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Mears assert, *Pet. at 8*, that the Court of Appeals decision as to alleged attorney misconduct is inconsistent with well-established legal principles. Yet, none of the cases they cite require reversal of the trial court's denial of plaintiff's motion for new trial based on the attorney misconduct the Court of Appeals found in this case.

First, Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors, 168 Wn.2d 664, 230 P.3d 583 (2010), was not even an attorney misconduct case. The issue in Salas was

whether the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence of

plaintiff's undocumented immigrant status. The Salas court held that:

[W]ith regard to lost future earnings, the probative value of a plaintiff's undocumented status, by itself, is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Therefore, the trial court's decision to admit evidence of Salas' immigration status was an abuse of discretion.

Salas, 168 Wn.2d at 673-74.

Second, in *Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of Am.*, 110 Wn.2d 128, 750 P.2d 1275 (1988), the issue was whether at the second trial an improper "golden rule" argument the defense made at the very end of its closing argument just before a recess, and as to which the trial court overruled plaintiff's objection and refused to give a curative instruction, required reversal. Given that the jury in the liability phase of the second trial returned a defense verdict, while the jury in the liability phase of the first trial had found the defendant 80% negligent, the *Adkins* court concluded:

Because the inconsistency in the verdicts may well have been due to the improper argument in this case, and because the trial court failed to sustain Adkins' objection and give a prompt curative instruction, we conclude that the improper argument presumptively affected the outcome of the trial and requires reversal.

Adkins, 110 Wn. App. at 143.10

Third, in Carabba v. Anacortes Sch. Dist., 72 Wn.2d 939, 954, 435

¹⁰ Here, contrary to the Mears' assertion, *Pet. at 10-11*, there was no inconsistency in the jury's findings of negligence but no proximate cause from which to presume that the four questions at issue prejudicially affected the jury's verdict. *See* pp. 13-17, *supra*.

P.2d 936 (1967), the trial court found that counsel had engaged in four specific acts of prejudicial and incurable misconduct, but denied plaintiff's new trial motion, because plaintiff, who objected and requested a curative instruction, did not request a mistrial. The *Carabba* court held:

We agree with the trial court's characterization of the four specific acts of misconduct as prejudicial and incurable. But we hold that the trial court was in error in balancing against these acts and their effect what the court referred to as "gambling on the verdict." This latter concept has no place in the court's consideration of a motion for new trial where the acts upon which such motion is based are acts of prejudicial misconduct, which were incurable, especially where such acts occurred at or near the end of the trial. To hold otherwise would be to place appellant on the horns of an impossible dilemma. Appellant has been denied a fair trial, and the judgment of the trial court must, therefore, be reversed.

Carabba, 72 Wn.2d at 954. Here, the trial court made no findings of misconduct, much less prejudicial and incurable misconduct, nor did it deny a new trial based on some notion of "gambling on the verdict."¹¹

Fourth, in Osborn v. Lake Wash. Sch. Dist. No. 414, 1 Wn. App. 534, 539, 462 P.2d 966 (1969), the Court of Appeals affirmed a trial court's grant of a new trial, where the trial court "was shocked by an obvious violation of a pretrial order designed to prevent the very problem caused by defense counsel" – the eliciting of irrelevant evidence

¹¹ Nor did the questions at issue occur at or near the end of trial. See CP 3299-3302. Here, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that "in the context of the entire eightweek proceeding," the improprieties it found in the record, "do not appear so prejudicial that they denied the Mears a fair trial." Slip Op. at 29.

concerning the plaintiff's commitment to a home for boys as an incorrigible child. That the trial and appellate courts in that case concluded that counsel's misconduct in that regard was prejudicial and incurable does not mean that the trial or appellate court in this case had to conclude that the four questions at issue here were prejudicial and incurable. Contrary to the Mears' suggestion, *Osborn* does not stand for the proposition that any violation of a motion in limine is so prejudicial as to require a new trial.

Fifth, that this Court in *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 274 P.3d 336 (2012), affirmed the trial court's grant of a new trial, finding that the record in that case supported the trial court's findings of misconduct and prejudice warranting a new trial, does not mean that the trial court or the Court of Appeals in this case, on different facts, was required to find prejudicial, incurable misconduct necessitating a new trial.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for review should be denied. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED December 29, 2014.

WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC

Attorneys for Respondents

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that on December 29, 2014, I caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing "Answer to Petition for Review," to be delivered in the manner indicated below to the following counsel of record:

Counsel for Petitioners: Thaddeus P. Martin, WSBA #28175 Law Office of Thaddeus P. Martin 4928 109th St SW Lakewood, WA 98499-3731 Ph: (253) 682-3420 Fx: (253) 682-0977 Email: <u>tmartin@thadlaw.com</u>

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